Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-3-2013

DAFCO v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40738

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case arises out of the same series of transactions described in *New Phase Investments* v. *Jarvis*, 153 Idaho 207, 280 P.3d 710 (2012), in which this Court held that a deed not signed by both spouses was potentially voidable, but not void, under Idaho Code § 32-912. In this case, the lender, Snake River Funding, Inc., and its assignee, DAFCO LLC, (collectively "the Lenders") sued Stewart Title Guaranty Company and Amerititle, Inc. (collectively "the Title Companies") claiming damages from Stewart Title resulting from breaches of the title policy and against Amerititle resulting from breaches of the escrow agreement. DAFCO also sought to add claims for negligence and for breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing against the Title Companies, and to add a breach of warranty claim against Snake River Funding under its assignment.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

On January 15, 2010, the Lenders filed their verified complaint against Stewart Title in this cause. (Shortly thereafter the foreclosure action in *New Phase Investments, supra*, was commenced. The Lenders filed a first Amended Complaint on April 29, 2010, clarifying the claims against Stewart Guaranty.

On September 21, 2010, the Lenders moved for summary judgment. ⁴ This motion was denied by the trial court in January 2011 on the grounds that, although the trial court in *New Phase Investments* had invalidated the Jarvis's deed because it had not been signed by both spouses,

¹ R., p. 12.

² See Supreme Court Repository, Bonneville County Case CV-2010-651.

³ R., p. 22.

⁴ R., p. 93.

Stewart Title had appealed that decision and the appeal was still pending.⁵ Because of the pending appeal the trial court determined that the Lenders' claims were not ripe. Nevertheless, the court refused to dismiss the case, as requested by Stewart Title, and on March 24, 2011, it vacated all hearing and trial dates pending a decision on the appeal in *New Phase Investments*.⁶

In the meantime, the Lenders filed a Second Amended Complaint on March 11, 2011, adding a claim against Amerititle, Inc., which had acted as the escrow agent in the closing of the loan by the Lenders to Jarvis.⁷

At that point all proceedings in this case effectively ceased until the decision of this court in *New Phase Investments* was received in late June 2012.⁸ No answer to the second amended complaint was filed by Amerititle. No discovery was conducted. Everybody awaited the outcome of the appeal.⁹

Following receipt of that opinion, counsel for the Lenders withdrew because of a conflict of interest between his clients. ¹⁰ New counsel appeared for DAFCO by Substitution of Counsel August 21, 2012. Because of the substitution and because no action had been taken on the new claims and defendant added by the Second Amended Complaint, the case was essentially starting afresh. As expressed by counsel for the Title Companies at a status conference, "we're starting at ground zero on all of that."¹¹

⁵ R., pp. 357, 368–369.

⁶ R., pp. 460–461.

⁷ R., p. 426.

⁸ R., p. ii.

⁹ Tr., p. 22, L. 19 – p. 23, L. 6; p. 30, Ll. 9–24.

¹⁰ R., p. 464, 466; Tr., p. 18, Ll. 14–21.

¹¹ Tr., p. 23, Ll. 5–6.

Snake River Funding moved to dismiss itself as a party plaintiff on September 20, 2012, and that motion was granted December 4, 2012. 12

Stewart Title and Amerititle moved for summary judgment October 12, 2012.¹³ DAFCO moved to file a Third Amended Complaint December 6, 2012.¹⁴

These motions, along with ancillary motions to strike and to continue, were argued December 12, 2012. At the hearing the trial court, considering all of the briefs and affidavits, ruled from the bench. It granted both motions for summary judgment and denied the plaintiff's motion to amend the complaint. ¹⁵ An order to that effect and final judgment were entered December 24, 2012. ¹⁶

This appeal ensued 42 days later on February 4, 2013, when DAFCO filed its Notice of Appeal.¹⁷

Statement of Facts

The background to this dispute is most concisely stated in this Court's opinion in *New Phase Investments*:

Joshua and Rebecca Jarvis were married on June 30, 2006, and remained married throughout the proceedings below. Joshua acquired a piece of real property in Idaho Falls (the "Property") on March 7, 2008. Although the warranty deed conveyed the Property to Joshua as "a married man dealing with his sole and separate property," the parties do not dispute that it was community property. Joshua planned to build a spec home on the Property and, in furtherance of that end, obtained several construction loans using the Property as collateral.

On March 13, 2008, Joshua executed a deed of trust in favor of Snake River Funding, Inc. to secure the amount of \$268,000, and that deed was later assigned to DAFCO, LLC. The deed of trust was recorded in Bonneville County on March 18,

¹² R., pp. 468, 580.

¹³ R, pp. 471, 473.

¹⁴ R., p. 582.

¹⁵ Tr., pp. 42–93

¹⁶ R., pp. 689–693.

¹⁷ R., p. 694.

2008. It is undisputed that Rebecca did not join in the execution of this first-recorded trust deed. On April 3, 2008, Joshua obtained a \$42,000 loan secured by another deed of trust executed in favor of New Phase Investments, LLC, again without Rebecca's signature.

Although Joshua defaulted on those obligations in the summer of 2008, New Phase agreed to loan him additional money secured by new deeds of trust. Joshua and Rebecca, acting together, executed two deeds of trust in favor of New Phase on October 28, 2008, as well as a third deed of trust on November 3, 2008. The trust deeds secured amounts of \$42,000, \$63,600, and \$140,000, respectively, and were recorded in Bonneville County on their dates of execution.¹⁸

Amerititle was the escrow agent that closed the loan transaction between Jarvis and Snake River Funding. ¹⁹ The transaction involved several issues, as set forth in the closing instructions prepared by Amerititle. First, Amerititle recognized in the closing instructions that the closing would involve two steps. The first step was to execute the documents that created a loan from Snake River Funding to Mr. Jarvis. The second step was to execute the documents that assigned Snake River Funding's interest in the loan to DAFCO. In other words, from the outset DAFCO was the real party in interest in this transaction and closing. That was patently obvious to all. The Closing Instructions from Snake River Funding and Jarvis to Amerititle state: "Please prepare the: Promissory Note, Deed of Trust, *Assignment of Deed of Trust from Snake River Funding, Inc. to D.A.F.C.O. LLC*... And any other necessary documents."²⁰

As to the vesting, and specifically the parties to the transaction, the Closing Instructions followed the Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Amerititle. In particular, the Commitment for Title Insurance issued prior to Closing provided that title was vested in "Josh M. Jarvis, a married man dealing with his sole and separate property." The same Commitment for Title Insurance

¹⁸ New Phase Investments v. Jarvis, 153 Idaho at 208–209, 280 P.3d at 711–712

¹⁹ R., p. 502, ¶ 9 (Affidavit of Megan Ker).

²⁰ R., p. 508 (Exhibit A to Affidavit of Megan Ker)

²¹ R., p. 434 ¶ 4 (Exhibit A to verified Second Amended Complaint)

contained the following requirement: "5. We will require the spouse of the vestee named herein join in any conveyance and/or encumbrance to satisfy Homestead Exemptions limitations and Community Property presumption." Presumably, this would have been one of the "other necessary documents" referenced in the Closing Instructions, as set forth above.

Under the Closing Instructions, Amerititle was not authorized to close the transaction until it "has received *all properly executed documents.*" The parties were entitled to assume that the properly executed documents would include the signature of Mrs. Jarvis on the conveyance or encumbrance, as set out in the Commitment for Title Insurance.

At the closing, however, Amerititle did not obtain the signature of Mrs. Jarvis, either on the Deed of Trust or on another instrument in which she disclaiming any interest in the property. Indeed, that failure was at the heart of the litigation in *New Phase Investments*, as it is in this case.

In short, Ameritile was the escrow or closing agent that improperly prepared documents showing that title was vested in Joshua Jarvis as his sole and separate property instead of as his community property. It prepared a deed of trust without including a signature by Mrs. Jarvis. It prepared the closing instructions and "other necessary documents" presented to the parties to sign at the closing of the loan in question. And as is ubiquitous in such transactions, the parties relied on Amerititle, as the expert that had studied the title and knew what was necessary to get the title and the documents right at closing so that the loan could be insured without any cloud or encumbrance other than those listed on the title commitment and, ultimately, on the title insurance policy. Those failures led to the deed of trust being voidable and thus potentially void, which allowed *New Phase Investments* to feel secure in taking subsequently executed and recorded deeds of trust and asserting a first priority lien.

²² R., p. 435 (Exhibit A to verified Second Amended Complaint)

²³ R., p. 509, L. 1 (Exhibit A to Affidavit of Megan Ker)

Insofar as the ultimate issuance of a title policy, however, Amerititle was acting only as the agent for Stewart Title Guaranty, which actually issued the title policy ("Policy").²⁴ The title policy followed the state of the title reported in the Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Amerititle. Notably, the Policy defines "Insured" not only to include "Snake River Funding, Inc., an Idaho corporation," (the insured listed in Schedule A), but also ". . . each successor in ownership of the indebtedness." Under this provision DAFCO, as a successor owner of the indebtedness from Jarvis, is also an insured under the Policy.

As noted in *New Phase Investments*, Jarvis defaulted on the loans from DAFCO in the summer of 2008. DAFCO has never been paid any monies due and payable under the loan to Jarvis.²⁶ Of course, because of the new deeds of trust issued by Jarvis and his wife to New Phase Investments (closed, it should be noted, by Amerititle), a straightforward foreclosure was not possible. Rather than foreclose on a deed that was either void or voidable, pursuant to the general understanding prior to the Supreme Court's decision in *New Phase Investments*, on November 28, 2008, DAFCO and Snake River Funding provided a Notice of Claim to Stewart Title for payment under the policy.²⁷ Demands for payment were also made to Stewart Title on August 31, 2009, and on December 23, 2009.²⁸ The principals of DAFCO and of Snake River Funding, Inc., both testified that they never requested or authorized the hiring of counsel to pursue their interests under the deed of trust or to represent their interests in any other way. Instead, they consistently requested that Stewart Title pay

²⁴ R., pp. 438–450 (Exhibit B to verified Second Amended Complaint), p. 429 ¶¶ 18–19

²⁵ R, p. 447, ¶ 1(e)(1)(A) (Exhibit B to verified Second Amended Complaint)

 $^{^{26}}$ R., p. 342, ¶ 7 (Affidavit of David Patterson)

²⁷ R., p. 430, ¶ 24; cf. R., p. 512, ¶ 16, and pp. 521–523.

²⁸ R., p. 430, ¶ 25.

the damages they sustained as a result of the defect in title against which Stewart Title had insured them.²⁹

Instead of paying DAFCO under the Policy, Stewart Title retained counsel to represent DAFCO and Snake River Funding in an effort to remedy or "establish" the title. The Policy gives Stewart Title the right, in addition to the options contained in paragraph 7 set out below, to institute and pursue action to "establish the Title or the lien of the Insured Mortgage, as insured," including the right to appeal any adverse judgment or order." In paragraph 7, Stewart Title also is given options to pay or tender payment of the "Amount of Insurance," to "Purchase the Indebtedness," or to pay or otherwise settle with the Insured or parties other than the Insured. There appears to be no other provision in the Policy that deals with the interaction of these several different options.

Despite the timely hiring of counsel by Stewart Title, for various reasons, including two bankruptcies' by Jarvis, suit to "establish the title, as insured," was not initiated until shortly after the filing of this suit in February 2010, a delay of well over a year from the Notice of Claim. That litigation occupied nearly 2½ years, resulting in a delay of approximately four years after Jarvis's default to clear up the mess created by Amerititle's errors at closing.

During that four years interest continued to accrue on the note. Instead of having a relatively expeditious and routine non-judicial foreclosure, litigation took about 12 times that long, and 12 times the interest accrued, seriously eroding the relative value of the security for the loan. Moreover, as is well known to virtually every adult in this country, during that time period from mid-2008 until mid-2012, the real estate market nationwide, especially the residential real estate market, took a serious beating, also dramatically reducing the value of DAFCO's security.

²⁹ R., pp. 341–342, 343A (Affidavit of David Patterson, Affidavit of Darin Hebdon (Second)

³⁰ R., p. 448, ¶ 5(b)(c)

³¹ R., p. 448, \P 7(a)(b)

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. The Rules of Civil Procedure require that leave to amend be freely given when justice so requires. The court refused to allow an amendment to restate claims against Amerititle and Stewart Title in light the *New Phase Investments* decision because of the age of the case. Did the court abuse its discretion when it was necessary to wait for the decision in *New Phase Investments* before proceeding?
- 2. Idaho law allows a court to deny leave to amend a complaint when the amended pleading does not set out a valid claim. Idaho law recognizes negligence claims against insurance companies, including bad faith claims. DAFCO asserted negligence and bad faith claims against the title companies. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying leave to amend on the ground that the claims asserted lacked merit?
- 3. The covenant of good faith and fair dealing is part of insurance contracts in Idaho, having the object to see that the insured gets what he bargains for. Stewart Title chose to litigate title for several years rather than to promptly pay DAFCO its damages under the policy, allowing the value of DAFCO's security to seriously erode. Was that choice a breach of the contractual duty of good faith and fair dealing in the Policy?
- 3. Privity of contract includes not only original parties but assignees of parties and third party beneficiaries. The Closing Instructions between Snake River Funding and Amerititle contemplated an immediate assignment of the loan to DAFCO, which actually occurred. Was it improper to deny summary judgment to DAFCO against Amerititle for lack of privity?

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

DAFCO seeks its attorney fees on appeal pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-120(3) (commercial transaction).

ARGUMENT

T.

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY RELIED ON UNSPECIFIED PREJUDICE AND IMPROPER ANALYSIS OF THE MERITS OF THE CLAIMS TO BE ADDED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO AMEND, RESULTING IN AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

A. The Standard of Review Is Abuse of Discretion.

In *Hines v. Hines*, 129 Idaho 847, 853, 934 P.2d 20, 27 (Idaho 1997) the Idaho Surpeme Court explained the long-standing rules of the Court regarding decisions to grant or to refuse permission to amend a complaint. It stated:

the decision to grant or refuse permission to amend a complaint is left to the sound discretion of the trial court when a party proposes to amend its complaint after a responsive pleading is served. I.R.C.P. 15(a); *Jones v. Watson*, 98 Idaho 606, 570 P.2d 284 (1977). We also recognize that this Court has determined that a trial court properly refuses permission to amend a complaint when the record contains no allegations that, if proven, would entitle the party to the relief claimed. *Black Canyon Racquetball Club, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat'l Bank*, 119 Idaho 171, 804 P.2d 900 (1991). Nonetheless, as this Court indicated in *Wickstrom v. North Idaho College*, 111 Idaho 450, 725 P.2d 155 (1986), in the interest of justice, district courts should favor liberal grants of leave to amend a complaint.

When reviewing an exercise of discretion, a court on appeal conducts a three-tiered inquiry. The lower court must have (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion, (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with legal standards applicable to specific choices available to it, and (3) reached its conclusion by an exercise of reason. *Dunagan v. Dunagan*, 147 Idaho 599, 213 P.3d 384 (2009).

Regarding the second tier of the inquiry, some of the legal standards applicable are set forth in *Hines v. Hines, supra*. The most basic of these legal standards is that district courts should favor liberal grants of leave to amend a complaint. *Hines, supra*. This requirement is set forth explicitly in I.R.C.P. 15(a) as follows: "[L]eave shall be freely given when justice so requires."

B. The Trial Court Placed Undue Weight on the Age of the Case, Considering the Delay Occasioned by the Need to Await a Decision on the Appeal in *New Phase Investments*.

At least twice in its oral ruling on the motions before it at the hearing held December 12, 2012, the Court emphasized how long this case had been pending, and its concern about the time guidelines imposed on trial courts by the Supreme Court.

So there's an extended history on this case, and it appears that the parties in some regard may have been idle awaiting the decision, but nonetheless this is a case that has been pending since 2010 early. And so when we reach trial, it will have been a number of years, which far exceeds the time standards that are imposed upon this Court for resolution. And there are those cases that have taken this kind of time, but you look at the nature of the cases to make a determination as to whether or not it has been diligently pursued.

Tr., p. 77, L. 25 – p. 78, L. 9.

The Court in its view and the pressures it feels from its case management and calendar and the guidelines set forth by the Supreme Court that it can't go backwards.

Tr., p. 83, Ll. 17–20

Based on that and, frankly, it appears on nothing else, the trial court determined that it would be prejudicial to allow an amendment of the complaint. "And the Court finds that *any prejudice* in this case would exceed any justification to allow the amendment." Tr., p. 83, Ll. 20–22.

The Court never states what the prejudice to the defendants actually would be if there were an amendment, other than an unspecified amount of time. The court was obviously concerned with additional delay, but it never discussed how short or how long the delay would be, or what the practical or legal consequences of that delay would be on the defendants. The trial court mentions the New Phase Investment case and the need to wait for a decision, but once that decision was made, was unwilling to discount the time lost during that wait and was unwilling to even consider the effect that decision had on the posture of this case.

Remarkably, the trial court was willing to allow Stewart Title a period of four years to sort out the title to the property, finding that it had proceeded "diligently," even though the prejudice to

DAFCO in the erosion of its security as interest on the note grew and property values fell. At the same time it was unwilling to allow DAFCO, who had newly involved counsel because of a conflict of interest of its prior counsel, even a short delay to put its claims in line with the new legal realities after the Court's surprising decision in *New Phase Investments*.

The failure to address the specific prejudice to be experienced by Amerititle (which did not even file an answer to the Second Amended Complaint until after the decision in *New Phase Investments*) or to Stewart Title, was a violation of the third tier of the inquiry conducted by this Court on appeal. The prejudice focused on by the trial court seems to be exclusively the prejudice to the trial court because of the application of the Supreme Court guidelines on the resolution of cases, not on the prejudice or interests of justice of the parties.

C. The Newly Stated Claims are Meritorious.

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