Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-1-2013

DAFCO v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40738

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

Argument

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED DAFCO'S MOTION TO AMEND.

A. Standard for Denying Motions to Amend.

The grant or denial of a motion to amend a pleading is within the discretion of the district court. *Maroun v. Wyreless Sys. Inc.*, 141 Idaho 604, 612, 114 P.3d 974, 982 (2005) (citations omitted). The abuse of discretion standard is deferential to the district court. *First Sec. Bank of Idaho, N.A. v. Hansen*, 107 Idaho 472, 480, 690 P.2d 927, 935 (1984) (holding the district court is given a "large degree of discretion."). On appeal, the Court considers whether:

(1) the court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) the court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with legal standards

applicable to specific choices; and (3) the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

State Ins. Fund v. Jarolimek, 139 Idaho 137, 139, 75 P.3d 191, 193 (2003).

Sufficient grounds to deny a motion to amend include undue delay, bad faith, dilatory motive, or prejudice. *Maroun*, 141 Idaho at 612, 114 P.3d at 982. In *Weitz v. Green*, the district court was justified in determining the opposing party was prejudiced when the motion to amend was made a year after filing the initial Complaint and would require additional evidence and witness gathering. 148 Idaho 851, 858, 230 P.3d 743, 750 (2009). A district court may also deny a motion to amend if the amended pleading does not set out a valid claim, or if the opposing party has an available defense. *Black Canyon Racquetball Club, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat. Bank, N.A.*, 119 Idaho 171, 175, 804 P.2d 900, 904 (1990).

The district court recognized the decision of whether to grant or deny the motion to amend as an issue left to the discretion of the court and cited the various standards applicable to motions to amend. Tr. pp. 79-84. DAFCO claims the district court did not reach its decision by an exercise of reason. *Appellant's Brief* pp. 16-17. The record demonstrates otherwise.

B. The Motion to Amend Was Untimely, Constituted Undue Delay, and Was Prejudicial.

DAFCO asks the Court to ignore the history of the case prior to the decision in *New Phase Investments, LLC*. This case was actively litigated for a year and several months before the district court vacated hearings and trial dates on March 24, 2011. R. pp. 1-5 and 460-461. During that time, the parties engaged in discovery and the district court considered and decided a motion for summary judgment, a motion to dismiss, a motion to reconsider, and motions to

amend the Complaint. R. pp. 1-5. Notably, the March 24, 2011 order vacating hearings and trial dates did not preclude DAFCO from moving forward on discovery. R. pp. 460-461.

Snake River Funding and DAFCO amended their Complaint twice before the district court's order on March 24, 2011. R. pp. 1, 4, 22-43, and 426-453. When Snake River Funding and DAFCO filed their Second Amended Complaint, DAFCO made no effort to clarify the claims despite the fact any potential claims should have been known. R. pp. 1, 4, 22-43, and 426-453.

DAFCO provides no legitimate excuse for not including the claims sought to be added in the proposed Third Amended Complaint in the prior three versions of the Complaint filed and served by DAFCO. The district court correctly decided that nothing in this Court's decision in *New Phase Investments, LLC* created any conflicts. Tr. pp. 83, Lns. 7-10. Additionally, the decision did not create any claims that would not have existed when the first Complaint was filed or when the first or second amended Complaints were filed. Tr. pp. 83, Lns. 7-10.

DAFCO's own Motion to File Third Amended Complaint recognized limits to a district court's granting of leave to amend, such as when the "motion is made after court-imposed deadlines, adds parties that were earlier dismissed, at a time that multiple discovery deadlines had passed." R. p. 586 (*citing Maroun*, 141 Idaho 604, 114 P.3d 974). All of the elements cited by DAFCO as reasons why a court may properly deny a motion to amend are present in this case.

After the decision in *New Phase Investments, LLC*, DAFCO showed complete disregard for the district court and the other parties in the litigation. DAFCO ignored the district court's

two week deadline set on October 10, 2012 for DAFCO to seek to file an amended Complaint. Tr. pp. 34-35 and 77, Lns. 15-24; R. pp. 7-8 and 678, ¶ 4. The failure to meet the deadline was not only inexcusable but extremely prejudicial because Snake River Funding's claims against Stewart and AmeriTitle were dismissed with prejudice after DAFCO failed to timely seek to file an amended Complaint. DAFCO's failure to meet the district's court deadline is sufficient alone to justify denying the motion to amend.

DAFCO's disregard for the district court's docket and the other parties continued when DAFCO failed to appear at the November 28, 2012 hearing on Snake River Funding's motion for dismissal of its claims. Tr. pp. 38-41 and 77, Lns. 15-24; R. p. 679, ¶ 8. Based on the past history of the case and DAFCO's decision not to seek to file an amended Complaint, the district court entered an order on December 4, 2012 dismissing Snake River Funding from the lawsuit with prejudice. Tr. pp. 77, Lns. 15-24; R. pp. 580-581 and 679, ¶ 8.

DAFCO bemoans that Snake River Funding "did not even appear" at the hearing on DAFCO's motion to amend. *Appellant's Brief* p. 18. Yet Snake River Funding had already been dismissed from the case and DAFCO never objected to the dismissal. DAFCO provides no authority for the proposition that a party once dismissed from a lawsuit as a plaintiff must receive notice of later motions to add the party as a new defendant. *Appellant's Brief* p. 21.

Despite Stewart and AmeriTitle's courtesy in rescheduling the hearing on their Motions for Summary Judgment for a month later than originally noticed, DAFCO disregarded the extension and did not file timely responses. On the evening of December 5, 2012, after close of business and after Stewart and AmeriTitle's reply brief on their Motions for Summary Judgment

would be due, counsel for DAFCO fax-served on Stewart and AmeriTitle numerous motion documents including a Motion to File a Third Amended Complaint (forty-two days late from the district court's deadline), a Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment (a week late even after a one month extension), and an Affidavit in Support of Response in Opposition to Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment (a week late even after a one month extension). Tr. p. 77, Lns. 15-24; R. pp. 582-644, and 679, ¶ 11.

The district court appropriately noted the motion to file the Third Amended Complaint was filed:

- After nearly three years elapsed from when the original Complaint was filed. R.
 p. 647, ¶11; Tr. 77, Lns. 15-24;
- After the trial date been extended three times. R. p. 647, ¶ 13; Tr. 77, Lns. 15-24;
- After the discovery deadlines had been extended for each trial reset. R. p. 647, ¶ 13; Tr. 77, Lns. 15-24; and
- The extended discovery deadlines began expiring five days before DAFCO's motion was set to be heard on December 19, 2012. R. p. 647, ¶ 15; Tr. p. 77, Lns. 15-24.

DAFCO's repetitious disregard for deadlines and the history of the case must be viewed as a whole when assessing the district court's decision to deny the motion to amend. Ultimately, the district court could properly deny the motion to amend based solely on the timing of the motion because of the numerous blown deadlines and the delay and prejudice created by DAFCO's actions.

C. The Proposed Third Amended Complaint Did Not State Valid Claims.

The district court could properly deny DAFCO's motion to amend based solely on the untimeliness of the request. However, the district court also properly determined the proposed Third Amended Complaint did not state valid claims against Stewart or AmeriTitle – an independent basis for denying the DAFCO's motion to amend.

Although this Court has stated a "trial court may not consider the sufficiency of evidence supporting the claim sought to be added in determining leave to amend because that is more properly determined at the summary judgment stage," it is "certainly proper for the district court to consider whether the proposed amended complaint alleged valid claims." *Maroun v. Wyreless Sys., Inc.*, 141 Idaho 604, 612, 114 P.3d 974, 982 (2005). In this case, the district court made certain foundational determinations as part of the pending Motions for Summary Judgment. The district court was justified in relying on its determination of those issues when considering the validity of the claims sought to be added under the motion to amend. *Edmondson v. Shearer Lumber Products*, 139 Idaho 172, 179, 75 P.3d 733, 740 (2003) ("The decision to grant or refuse permission to amend is left to the sound discretion of the trial court where a party proposes to amend its complaint when the record contains no allegation, which, if proven, would entitle the party to the relief claimed.") (emphasis added).

a. Claims Against Stewart.

i. <u>Idaho law prohibits DAFCO's negligence claims against Stewart.</u>

DAFCO explains in the *Appellant's Brief* that the "claims pending under the Second Amended Complaint, which were the subject of the summary judgment motions, were purely

contractual claims under the Policy (against Stewart Title) and the Closing Instructions (against AmeriTitle)" and the Third Amended Complaint merely sought to add causes of action against Stewart based in tort. *Appellant's Brief* pp. 17 and 18. DAFCO describes the proposed claims against Stewart in the Third Amended Complaint as negligence in the way AmeriTitle (not Stewart) handled the escrow closing and a second claim for bad faith in the way Stewart "responded to and handled the claim by DAFCO under the policy." *Appellant's Brief* pp. 17 and 18.

DAFCO provides the Court with no legal authority for the proposition that a title insurer is liable under tort principles for issuance of a title policy. *Appellant's Brief* p. 26. DAFCO cites broadly to case law, provisions of the Idaho Code, and the Idaho Administrative Code (IDAPA), but none of the cited authority actually sets forth a duty that a title insurer owes beyond the terms of the title policy. *Appellant's Brief* p. 19-20 (citing *All American Realty, Inc. v. Sweet*, 107 Idaho 229, 230-231; 687 P.2d 1356, 1357-1358 (1984); I.C. § 30-901 *et seq.*; I.C. § 41-101 *et seq.*; and IDAPA 18.01.25). Rather, Idaho law limits tort claims related to issuance of a title policy because contracts and policies are the source of the duties between the parties, not negligence principles. *Brown's Tie & Lumber Co. v. Chicago Title Co. of Idaho*, 115 Idaho 56, 58, 764 P.2d 423, 425 (1988). The party asserting a duty beyond the title policy must show "the act complained of was a direct result of duties voluntarily assumed by the insurer in addition to the mere contract to insure title." *Id.* at 59, 764 P.2d at 426. DAFCO fails to set forth any such duties.

The portion of IDAPA cited by DAFCO as supporting a duty owed by Stewart further belies DAFCO's tort claims against Stewart. *Appellant's Brief* p. 20; R. pp. 595-596. Section 18.01.25.01.d of the IDAPA, which is cited by DAFCO, provides:

Issuance of a Policy. The preparation, execution and delivery of a title policy which is hereby deemed to be only a contract of insurance up to the face amount of such policy and in no way shall create a tort liability as to the condition of the record insured from. The same shall include any necessary investigation just prior to actual issuance of a policy to determine if there has been proper execution, acknowledgement and delivery of any conveyances, mortgage papers, and other title instruments which may be necessary for the issuance of a policy.

IDAPA 18.01.25.01.d (emphasis added). This section of IDAPA clearly shows that no tort claim can arise from the investigation prior to issuance of a policy or the execution, acknowledgement, and delivery of any conveyances, mortgage papers, and other title instruments that may be necessary for the issuance of a title policy. In the present case, this includes the execution of the Insured Deed of Trust.

DAFCO's negligence claims based on the escrow transaction handled by AmeriTitle is also not valid because Stewart was not a party to the escrow and Stewart performed no escrow duties. R. p. 501, ¶¶ 23-24; Tr. pp. 90-92. Accordingly, none of the authority DAFCO cites regarding escrow duties applies to Stewart. *See Appellant's Brief* pp. 19-20 (citing *All American Realty, Inc.*, 107 Idaho at 230-231; 687 P.2d at 1357-1358; I.C. § 30-901 *et seq.*; and IDAPA 18.01.25.001.01). The district court determined Stewart was not a party to the Closing Instructions and the Title Policy was the only contract Stewart entered. Tr. pp. 90-91. Therefore, Stewart owed no duty, and no tort claim related to the escrow work is viable against Stewart.

ii. No basis exists for DAFCO's claim against Stewart for breach of an alleged duty of good faith and fair dealing.

DAFCO later states the proposed Third Amended Complaint sought for the first time to add a claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. *Appellant's Brief* p. 21. However, DAFCO confuses its own claim. On the one hand, it argues the claim for the breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing should not have been dismissed as part of the Motions for Summary Judgment, which addressed the claims found in the Second Amended Complaint, but on the other hand, it states the claim was only sought to be added under the Third Amended Complaint. *Compare Appellant's Brief* p. 21 *with* p. 25. DAFCO cannot have it both ways. Either the claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing was included in the Complaints before the proposed Third Amended Complaint or it was not. DAFCO also confuses the nature of a claim for a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing when it first argues the claim is a tort and later argues it is also a contractual claim. *Appellant's Brief* p. 26. The claim is a tort claim. *Weinstein v. Prudential Property and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 149 Idaho 299, 315, 233 P.3d 1221, 1237 (2010). Regardless, none of the proposed amended claims against Stewart are valid.

The insured carries the burden of demonstrating the elements of bad faith, which include: "1) the insurer intentionally and unreasonably denied or withheld payment; 2) the claim was not fairly debatable; 3) the denial or failure to pay was not the result of a good faith mistake; and 4) the resulting harm is not fully compensable by contract damages." *Robinson v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 137 Idaho 173, 176-177, 45 P.3d 829, 832-833 (2002). Although DAFCO is

confused about whether such a claim is a tort claim and not a contract claim, such a cause of action rises and falls with the plain language of the contract. *Idaho First Nat. Bank v. Bliss Valley Foods, Inc.*, 121 Idaho 266, 288, 824 P.2d 841, 863 (1991) ("[T]he implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot be inconsistent with the agreement executed by the parties."). "There is no basis for claiming implied terms contrary to the express rights contained in the parties' agreement." *Id.* at 289, 824 P.2d at 864 (quoting *First Security Bank of Idaho v. Gaige*, 115 Idaho 172, 176, 765 P.2d 683, 687 (1988)).

The primary case relied upon by DAFCO, Weinstein, v. Prudential Property and Casualty Insurance Co., completely contradicts DAFCO's assertion of a breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. In Weinstein, the Court explained that "[a]lthough the tort of bad faith is not a breach of contract claim . . . there must also have been a duty under the contract that was breached." 149 Idaho at 315, 233 P.3d at 1237. Further, the "covenant requires the parties to perform, in good faith, the obligations contained in their agreement, but 'contract terms are not overridden by the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing." Id. at 316, 233 P.3d at 1238 (citing Van v. Portneuf Med. Ctr., 147 Idaho 552, 562, 212 P.3d 982, 992 (2009) and quoting Bushi v. Sage Health Care, PLLC, 146 Idaho 764, 768, 203 P.3d 694, 698 (2009)) (emphasis in original) (citations omitted); see also White v. Unigard Mut. Ins. Co., 112 Idaho 94, 100, 730 P.2d 1014, 1020 (1986) ("[T]he insured must show the insurer 'intentionally and unreasonably denies or delays payment "").

Weinstein has no application to the present case because DAFCO cannot clear the first hurdle of the four-prong test for bad faith claims. The district court determined the Title Policy

does not obligate Stewart to make the payment demanded by DAFCO. Tr. pp. 84-89. Thus, Stewart could not be accused of "intentionally and unreasonably" denying or withholding payment. The timeliness of a payment is not at issue when the insurer is not obligated to pay.

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